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the first stage of the work was actuelly finished in

the mid 1863; when the building erected had coss up-
ward to £ 1.700.0.0. (+ Ref. 10).

The very first building was a small cottage for
the head matron, gquite close to Keppel St. (+ Ref.11).
At t e same time a wooden paf\ing fence, was erected
around the site. Due to the limited funds availzble
at the time, only buildings with utmost importance were
erected.

A mein block of buildings were érected in +the
centre of the site, consisting of a dining room for
the inmates of the Home, which at that time was only
half the size of the present dining room, a committee
room which also served the matron's dining and sitting
room} & big kitchen, and 2 pvacking room to serve comun—
al laundry. Attached to this meain block was the laun-
dry itself, a rarty wall divided it from an ironing room.
To the east ang completely isolated from the main block
Was a big nursery surrounded by a wide verandzh.

A covered way connected the nursery to the main block.
The dormitory, the sleeping quarter for the g&irls, form-
ed a connection between the matron cottage and the main
block. It consisted of fourteen bedrooms. The rooms -
Were very small, cell like, measuring only about 10'x6"'
with narrow slots for windows, altogether a most prison-
like place. (+ Ref. 12). The rooms were actually small-
er then that they were, about 8' x §'.

Curiously, the entrance to the block was girecfly oppos-

ite the corridor of the dormitory about the middle of
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the land. So we czn imagine thet every time the door
bell rang, 2 matron hsad to welk half way across the

place in winter's cold or Summer's heat.

4 few years went by ané before long the Commit-
tee realized that the dormitory needed to be enlarged
due to en increase number of girls who wanted to Dbe
admitted to the Home.

& new wing was added, unfortunately with the s
same long corridor, smell rooms and small windows. It
had the seme number of rooms, in fact it was an exzet
copy of the old dormitory. Before the Year 1878 arriv-
ed, they had znother addition. This time it was only a
small wing attached to the nursery. (+ Ref.13). ©The
rooms were made larger compared to those of the Previous
wings. These rooms which measured 9'6" x 6'6" were
probably built to accomodate mothers who had to look
after their babies in the nursery. There was a cover-
ed walk connection to the previous wing. These two new’
addition produced as & more pleasant atmosphere since
the nursery was no longer isolated from the rest of the

“building. The Refuge could now give accomodation to

35 girls. y
With most of the needegd facilities already met,
the Committee of the Refuge could now fing more time to
give their attention on matters concerning the comfort
of the inmates. Instead of the very strict rules im -
Posed to the inmates in the previous years, the Commit—

‘tee found that it was necessary to give more freedom to

the girls. The rrison-like rules kept the girls unhappy.
This was proved by &n increase number of girls who left
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the Refuge before they completed their term there, ‘or
worse still escaped. A good social life within the
institution, and a happy relationship between the
matrons and the girls was one step.

Thus it was planned to enlarge the inmates!
rooms so that inmetes could meet together. In addition
it was intended to enlarge the dining foom, S0 as to
Serve as a common room where the girls could get together
under matrons' supervision.

/
" An architecti was called to prepare plans of

-necessary alterations and an estimated cost of £ 4932,

0.0 was put up. Tenders were then called. (+ Ref.14).
lioney required to cover the expenses came from various
sources. Firstly annusl subscription from the volunteer
members; then contribution from king hearted citizens ;
money obtained from charity works; and municipal grants.
But, actually, a bigger slice of the funds were received
from a Government Grant.

For the year 1878 alone, the Carlton Refuge receiv-
ed £ 500.0.0. by way of Government Grant and this plus
subscription for mzintenance of buildings amounted up to
£ 923.9.6. (+ Ref. 15). With this sum, the Refugewas
in a good position finencially. It is interesting to
note that the professional service of an architect was
Tegarded very highly, and indeed very expensive. That
Same year the financial report stated an smount of
£ 378.1.1 for a building account which included an
architect's fee.
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‘Then ceme the great depression. Due to this,
the Committee had not been able yet To carry -out all
the renovetions intended. But considering a growing
need for more comfort for the inmates, the Committee
still intended to proceed immediately with a portion
of the same plan. !

Tenders had accordingly been invited by the architect
to carry out part of the plan which wveas not needed,
namely the enlargemenf of the dining room. The enlarge-
ment was a U shaped extension to the south, to the
existing dining room. The addition consecuently broke
up the symmetrical grrangement of the main block.

{+ Ref. 16.) -

The architect tried to cover this defZect Dby
putting up windows which were exact copies of those on
the 0ld block; and a band of frieze of the old block
-.was allowed to continue to the new addition, (+ Ref.l7.

In the previous years a devine service was held
-every Sunday, with the various clergymen in the neigh-
bourhood taking the services in turn. The services
usually took place in the dining room. Unexpectedly
the response was amezing, the girls took active part
in these occasions. The fact that this was important
in the way of rehabilitating the inmates of the Refuge,
convinced the Committee that more suitable facilities
was needed. So in 1881, a small chapel was built to
the east of the new-dormitory.-- (+ Ref. 18.)— -

It was commected to the dormitory by & covered way. The

plan was rectangular, fitted with rectangular apse on
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one side. Among the other buildings on the site, it
did not have'any perticular aprearance. It could only
be differentieted from the rest by its high vindows
.end semi circular zrches. But then the cost still

soared upward to £ 494.17.4 , due to the construction

and finishing of %

s

e interior. (+ Ref. 16.)

Simultaneously with the Chapél, a hospital ward
was built at the cost of £ 311.5.0. It was for a
sick dormitory; for inmztes who needed to be isolated
from the main dormitory. The building consisted of a
big ward, a nurse room, and a storage room. A toilet
was included in the building but with zccess from the
outside. There was 2 wide versndzh to the west where
patients could sit in the afternoon.

Since the devression mentioned gbove, the Govern-
ment had decreased its grant from £ 500.0.0 to
£ 250.0.0. ° In the year of 1889 it-increzsed the Grant
agéin to £ 400.0.0 per annum. In addition, the Refuge
recelved an amount of £ 300.0.0 from 2 summer request
fund. The money obtzined was used to trovide znother
improvement to the Refuge. With the increase of number
of inmates it was found that the Carlton Refuge required
more sub - mairons to help with supervision work and
other everyday chores. Hence a new addition was built;
to the west, between the 0ld matron's quarter and the
girls' dormitory. It consisted of 4 sub - matrons'
bedrooms, 5 bedrooms for the inmates znd 2 big rooms

ffEE'offices which housed the administration of the Refuge.

: P e A, [ e Fodd ey 1
- .

e




e

SR SO e e s AL TR T O it 3o sk
P AP e e rei

The only difference was that in the Carlton Refuge

this concept was used more freely. In Greenway's
building, the total length of the main bloek plus

two flanking dormitory vings was 132'0", with a
dormitory width of 27'0"., These were slightly varied
in the Carlton Refuge, the measurement being 132'0"
long and 32'0" wide. The similarity is agzin ob -
vious in the Planning of the main blocks. In the
Female Factory, the main block coﬁsisted of four

rooms with a central hall as a meens of communications.

In the Refuge, the central hall was substituted by
cross corridoes. The fact that the Female Factory

was eXecuted in a grander scale, prevented further
borrowing to be carried on in the Carlton Refuge.
We could only say that the mnost independent
secular buildings on the site was the sick dormitory.
It was completed in 1882 at a cost of £ 311.5.0.
(+ Ref. 24.) This building had to be isolated to
avoid infection and secondly it had to be self con-
tained. The location chosen was near to Keppel St.
which at that time had the most accessible roag
around the block. It consisted of a big ward ’
measvring 20'6"x 15'Q" wide; a nurses' quarter which,
was a square room measuring 11'6" x 11'6" ; a small
storage room and a2 W.C. A series of W.C.s attached
to the north wall of the building were added‘gt a

T latter date.
- The sick dormitory was connected to the main
g block by a covered way. A bedroom of the aormitory
. 26




A
proper was broken down to provide access. Access

to the ward was provided by a door 2t the end of
the connecting covered way. Upon enteriﬁg a2 patient
was confronted with a laveztory end storage room, so
all in all, it was indeed not = very inviting place.
Simultaneously with the sick dormitory, a chapel was
built near to Cardigan St. Due to its interior, it
cost the Kefuge £ 494.17.4 +o coﬁstruct.

| The Chapel was executed in a very simpie
mamner. Again the axis were alignéd to those of
the main block. The move was simple rectangular
with a door at one end'of the longitudinal axis.
The chancel was rectangular, a typical one of the
colonial era.. It was only meant for the clergy
since the Refuge had not formed a Proper choir yet.
The Chapel itself was only expected to accomodate
at the maximum of 35 girls,

The addition of 1889 which consisted of five
inmates! Trooms, four sub-matrons' rooms and offices
Were actually squeezed in to the site. The interior
Planning was reasonably well considering the awkward
triangular shape of the building. The useless room
Space near to Keppel St. served as a lobby. The
corridors were widen to cope with the people whé came
to the Refuge, during visiting hours/days. It was
uwnfortunate that the matron and the sub-matrons! rooms

could not be more suitably located in a2 more peaceful

‘area’ 6f “the Refuge.
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